

# A review of techniques for the monitoring of fine sediments: Discussion document to inform workshop



Published by CREW – Scotland's Centre of Expertise for Waters. CREW connects research and policy, delivering objective and robust research and expert opinion to support the development and implementation of water policy in Scotland. CREW is a partnership between the James Hutton Institute and all Scottish Higher Education Institutes supported by MASTS. The Centre is funded by the Scottish Government.

This document was produced by: Ioanna Akoumianaki, Susan Cooksley, Nikki Dodd The James Hutton Institute Craigiebuckler, Aberdeen, AB15 8QH

Please reference this report as follows: Akoumianaki, I., Cooksley, S. and Dodd, N. (2016) A review of techniques for the monitoring of fine sediments: discussion document to inform workshop CRW2016\_07.

Dissemination status: distributed to delegates invited to contribute to a workshop discussion (1 July

2016, Battleby). ISBN 978-1-911706-14-4

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, modified or stored in a retrieval system without the prior written permission of CREW management. While every effort is made to ensure that the information given here is accurate, no legal responsibility is accepted for any errors, omissions or misleading statements. All statements, views and opinions expressed in this paper are attributable to the author(s) who contribute to the activities of CREW and do not necessarily represent those of the host institutions or funders.

Cover photograph courtesy of: Susan Cooksley, James Hutton Institute



## Contents

| 1 | Summary of findings                                 | 1 |
|---|---|---|
| 2 | Background  | 1 |
| 3 | Methods   | 1 |
| 4 | General points                                      | 1 |
| 5 | Parameters and techniques                           | 1 |
|   | Suspended sediments                                 | 1 |
|   | Turbidity   | 2 |
|   | Fine sediment deposition – siltation                | 2 |
|   | Streambed characterisation: grain size distribution | 3 |
|   | Pore water sampling: dissolved oxygen (DO)          | 3 |
|   | Pore water sampling: redox potential                | 3 |
|   | Standards and criteria                              | 4 |
| 6 | Recommendations                                     | 4 |
| 7 | Tables  | 5 |
| 8 | List of references                                  | 7 |

### **Tables**

- Table 1A:Summary of advantages and disadvantages of the techniques supporting the measurement of the<br/>parameters required for assessing fine sediments in streams with FPM beds: stream water parameters
- Table 1B:Summary of advantages and disadvantages of the techniques supporting the measurement of the<br/>parameters required for assessing fine sediments in streams with FPM beds: streambed parameters
- Table 2:
   FPM tolerance levels to fine sediment parameters and regulatory targets/recommendations.
- Table 3:
   The main advantages and disadvantages of substrate characterisation techniques in the context of FPM beds

# Fine sediment monitoring: a review of techniques, Discussion document to inform workshop

### 1 Summary of findings

- The specific objectives of the fine sediment monitoring programme must be clearly defined. This will determine which parameters should be monitored, where, at what frequency and for how long and so ensure that monitoring is fit for purpose.
- 2) The following seven parameters can contribute to understanding fine sediment dynamics and their effects on the FPM habitat:
- Stream water parameters: suspended sediment, flow, turbidity.
- Streambed parameters: sediment deposition rate, median grain size, redox potential and dissolved oxygen (DO) in free-flowing and pore water.
- 3) Preliminary stream water surveys are required at each site to determine whether single-point monitoring is representative of the within-reach spatial variability.
- Investigations at different scales are needed to describe different aspects of the sedimentary processes in a catchment:
- Catchment-wide investigations used to establish sediment sources, movements and dynamics.
- Reach scale assessments used to provide information about local sedimentary conditions and offer the opportunity to use techniques that are not suitable for use amongst FPMs.
- Studies in freshwater pearl mussel beds used to assess habitat condition.
- 5) Relating dissolved oxygen (DO) and redox potential in the pore water to fine sediments needs further research. This work should draw on evidence from other countries and for other species.

### 2 Background

Fine sediments (particles <2mm) in rivers and streams generally result from land management activities such as forestry, agriculture or development. Their ecological effects can be highly damaging (Owenes et al., 2005). In suspension, fine particles interfere with biological processes (e.g. reduced sunlight penetration impairs plant growth) and behaviours (e.g. restricting the ability to find prey). When deposited, fine sediments can smother the riverbed and restrict the infiltration of oxygen-rich free-flowing water. They also introduce organic matter and nutrients, which can increase biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) and promote eutrophication. Once present in a river system, fine sediments have the potential to cause a long-term cycle of environmental damage due to repeated mobilisation and resettlement.

Fine sediment is thought to be one of the principal pressures affecting the Freshwater pearl mussel (FPM) in Scotland detrimental effects include prevention of feeding, damage to gills/ feeding structures, and degradation of inter-gravel habitat (CEN, 2016). However, as there is no agreed method for monitoring and regulating fine sediment in UK rivers, it is difficult to assess the extent of problems that may be affecting FPM sites and to target remedial measures effectively. Therefore, there is a desire to establish a monitoring programme in Scotland in order to better understand the effects of fine sediment on FPMs (alongside other water quality issues), targeted to those designated sites where populations are in unfavourable condition.

A workshop to be held at SNH, Battleby on 1 July 2016 will bring together experts in the field to inform the design of a fine sediment monitoring programme which will be tested at key FPM sites in Scotland. This review of fine sediment monitoring techniques was commissioned by SNH to form the basis of this workshop. Key questions addressed are:

- a) Which parameters should be monitored to assess the levels and effects of fine sediments in watercourses supporting freshwater pearl mussels?
- b) Which sampling techniques are suitable in Scotland?
- c) What are the advantages and disadvantages of these techniques?

### 3 Methods

A literature review, complimented by discussions with workers in the field, was undertaken to establish the parameters and techniques that are relevant to monitoring fine sediments in the context of FPM catchments in Scotland. The different techniques were compared and assessed in the context of factors relating to FPMs e.g. habitat, tolerance limits, regulatory criteria and disturbance issues.

### 4 General points

Definitions of 'fine sediment' are inconsistent, making it difficult to compare data from different studies. The term may refer to:

- Suspended and/or streambed particles; this relates to the parameters being monitored (Edwards & Glysson, 1999; Gray & Landers, 2014).
- Suspended particles smaller than 2, 1, or 0.063 mm (e.g. Wood & Armitage, 1997; Owens et al., 2005; Kidner & Roesner, 2007); this relates to technique selection (e.g. Perks, 2014).
- Suspended particles larger than 0.45 2 μm; this relates to analytical cost and interpretations (e.g. APHA, 1999; Marquis, 2005; Grove et al., 2015; Sheriff et al., 2015).
- Different analytical and sampling techniques may produce different results and interpretations (APHA, 1999; Edwards & Glysson, 1999; Gray & Landers, 2014).

At least seven parameters are central to understanding the dynamics of fine sediments and their effects on the FPM habitat:

- Stream water parameters: suspended sediment, flow, turbidity.
- Streambed parameters: sediment deposition rate, median grain size, redox potential and dissolved oxygen (DO) in the pore water.

The advantages and disadvantages of the sampling techniques referring to each of these fine sediment parameters are presented in Tables 1A and 1B.

### 5 Parameters and techniques

### Suspended sediments

- 1) Suspended sediment varies temporally and spatially:
- Particle size distribution and concentration vary with flow, between streams, and between verticals and points in the cross section of the channel (Edward & Glysson, 1999).
- Approximately 90% of the annual mass of sediment is

transported within approximately 10% of the time (during storm flows) (e.g. Walling and Webb, 1987). Therefore, sampling during high flow events is crucial to understanding suspended sediment dynamics.

2) Suspended sediment concentration is usually monitored using a combination of manual (e.g. spot sampling) and automated methods (Edwards & Glysson, 1999; Perks 2014). Manually collected data provide the benchmark for comparisons and corrections of data from automatic samples (USGS, 2011). Automated samples give the ability to measure episodic inputs (which are often missed by routine sampling programmes).

3) There are no guidelines as to the suspended sediment concentrations (SSC) required to maintain or restore biological integrity in a given environment but it is known that some aquatic organisms are sensitive to changes in the duration, frequency and timing of suspended sediment concentrations, collectively referred to as the "suspended sediment regime" (Grove et al., 2016).

4) Monthly sampling is sufficient to assess compliance with water quality guidelines (e.g. Grove et al., 2016). However, at sites where biological community composition and function have been impacted by high suspended sediment loads, a 24/7 sampling regime (one sample collected every 7 h, leading to 24 samples a week) is the optimum sampling strategy in terms of:

- Accuracy mean concentrations calculated from this regime are, on average, within 2% of the mean concentrations calculated from 15-min frequency data.
- Practicality samples can be collected by an automated sampler.
- Suitability to assess effect-response relationships (e.g. Jordan and Cassidy, 2011; Akoumianaki et al., 2016; Grove et al., 2016).

5) Key monitoring considerations for suspended sediments (Edwards & Glysson, 1999; Quinlan et al., 2015; Webb et al., 1997 Perks 2014; Gray & Landers (2014) include:

- Depth of sampling and point of sampling in the cross section.
- The need for paired measurements (same site/time) of suspended sediment and flow (particle size and concentrations vary with flow on a site-specific basis). This enables assessment of how SSC changes between and during runoff events.
- Concurrent continuous measurements of turbidity can be used to create a continuous SSC time-series.
- Frequency of sampling of suspended sediment/flow at regular intervals hourly, daily, weekly or fortnightly sampling is preferable (as opposed to monthly) to ensure the entire range of sediment fluxes at a given site is captured.
- Sampling technique some field sampling equipment may not be able to capture representatively all the range of suspended particle sizes at a given site.
- Laboratory technique. Two laboratory analytical methods are predominantly used to quantify concentrations of suspended sediments in surface waters: Suspended Sediment Concentration (SSC) and Total Suspended solids (TSS)<sup>1</sup>. For accuracy and comparability, suspended sediment should be measured as SSC, if this is not possible TSS needs to be intercalibrated against SSC (Gray et al., 2000).

6) Suspended sediment data provide important information about the likely sediment sources and variations in fine sediment concentrations. However, measurements of suspended sediment alone cannot show whether/when fine sediments have caused dissolved oxygen declines in pore water (e.g. Quinlan et al., 2015). Turbidity

7) Turbidity is an expression of cloudiness or 'murkiness' of water due to high suspended load and dissolved (smaller than 0.45µm in diameter) coloured material. It is the most common surrogate that is used for determining water clarity and calculating concentrations of suspended sediment (Gray & Landers, 2014).

8) Turbidity can be influenced by factors such as particle size and composition and the presence of dissolved humic or mineral substances (Marcquis, 2005; Gray & Landers, 2014).

9) Key monitoring considerations include (Marcquis, 2005; Gray & Landers, 2014):

- Site-specific calibration of the concentration of suspended sediment-turbidity relationship, because of the limited transferability of turbidity measurements to other sites.
- Flow-accounting calibration, because the suspended sediment-turbidity relationship depends on the variability in particle-size distribution of suspended sediment, which is flow-dependent.

### Fine sediment deposition - siltation

10) Manual techniques involve collection of fine deposited material by agitating the riverbed and so induce sediment resuspension (Lambert and Walling, 1988; Collins and Walling, 2007; Quinn et al., 1997). The metric is g/m2. In general, these techniques are unsuitable for watercourses supporting FPMs due to (i) failure to provide a measurement of deposition rate in relation to stream water conditions (flow, suspended sediment) and (ii) the disturbance caused during handing of the equipment in-stream.

11) Automated techniques require the deployment of a sediment trap <sup>2</sup>. In gravel beds an infiltration basket is inserted in the streambed to collect settling particles over short periods to imitate the local conditions, flush with the streambed and filled and covered with a layer of coarse substrate material with same diameter as the streambed (e.g. Kozerski & Leuschen, 1999; 2000; Bond et al., 2002; Schindler-Widhaber et al., 2012; Mathers & Wood, 2016). The metric can be g/m2/day or mm/month. Sediment traps provide a reliable measurement of deposition rate and vertical exchange between stream water and streambed, and possibly of the colonisation potential of gravel beds.

12) A biomonitoring tool has been developed to assess sediment deposition: the Proportion of Sediment-sensitive Invertebrates (PSI) index is a sediment-sensitive macro-invertebrate metric which provides a proxy to describe the extent to which the surface of river beds are composed of, or covered by, fine sediments (Extence et al., 2011). This technique requires taxonomic data at a species level and quantitative data on sediment deposition, both of which are resource-intensive (Turley et al., 2014).

13) Key sampling considerations include (NEH, 2007; Hedrick et al., 2013):

- Patchiness, with fine sediment deposition being higher in pools rather than riffles within a stream-reach.
- <sup>1</sup> SSC analysis refers to filtering the whole sample collected in the field whereas TSS analysis generally entails withdrawal of an aliquot of the original sample for subsequent analysis (Gray et al. 2002).
- <sup>2</sup> The simplest sediment traps are box, pan, or tray type samplers, but more elaborate forms are also in use, such as suction traps; Whitlock-Vibert boxes (also used as fish-eggs incubators in gravel beds); and cylinders with perforated walls to account for horizontal movements of pore water and streambed organisms (Hedrick et al., 2013 and literature cited therein).

• Flow-dependence of siltation, which is usually elevated after events.

### Streambed characterisation: grain size distribution

14) Characterising substrate grain size distribution is required to estimate median grain size, silt and clay percentage and indices (e.g. sorting coefficient), which can help in assessing changes in FPM habitat (Quinlan et al., 2015).

15) There are several techniques:

- Bulk sampling involves taking a sample of riverbed material using core, grabs or digging out larger areas defined by a quadrat. Bias in grain size distribution and fine fraction estimation can be caused by excluding larger particles, misleading assessments of mussel tolerances to fine sediment (Quinlan et al., 2015). Bulk sampling can destructive to FPM habitat and FPMs, especially at higher densities.
- Pebble counts (Hedrick et al., 2013) involve a structured grid of random sampling over a channel unit. The removal of clasts for measurement can be destabilising to mussel habitat.
- Visual assessment (e.g. percentage coverage according to the Wentworth scale) is non-destructive but does not characterise the deeper sediments occupied by juvenile FPMs.

16) The techniques can be combined to enable more accurate estimation of median grain size (Abtew and Powell, 2003).

17) The risk of disturbance limits potential sampling resolution in terms of both temporal frequency (e.g. monthly sampling is not recommended) and spatial resolution, e.g. every pool or riffle (Hedrick et al., 2013).

### Pore water sampling: dissolved oxygen (DO)

18) Characterising DO in the pore water is key to understanding the factors influencing survival of juvenile FPMs (Quinlan et al., 2015). However, although the DO regime within gravel beds may be strongly influenced by the accumulation of fine sediment, DO studies of the pore water of gravel beds in Scotland indicated that interpretations or assumptions about fine sediment effects on the gravel habitat should be reassessed. Specifically, there are other factors affecting DO in pore water include surface watergroundwater exchange, thermal regime, and the consumption of oxygen by sediment and its associated organic matter (Sear et al., 2014).

- The role of flow and suspended sediment. During stormflows the pore water environment is "re-set", as stream water ingresses into the sand/gravel streambed enriching it with oxygen and nutrients (Soulsby et al., 2009), but also, possibly, with fine sediments, which when deposited following storm flows infiltrate the gravel bed and clog intergravel space (Greig et al., 2007; Schindler-Wildhaber et al., 2014; Sear et al., 2014).
- The role of organic matter. A high organic matter content associated with the fine sediments infiltrating the streambed may lead to the formation of biofilms and, under elevated temperatures, increase oxygen demand due to microbial breakdown of the deposited organic material, thus reducing available DO in the pore water (Greig et al., 2007 and literature cited therein).
- The role of groundwater through stream water-groundwater exchange (Greig et al., 2007). Upwelling of oxygen-depleted groundwater has been found to lower DO in the pore water of gravel beds for periods that may be biologically too long (Soulsby et al., 2009; Sear et al., 2014). However, upwelling of oxygen-rich groundwater can counterbalance the effect of fine sediment accumulation on DO and packing of pool patches (Schindler-Wildhaber et al., 2014; Michel et al.,

2014).

 Therefore, a crucial challenge is to collect pore water samples at temporal and spatial resolutions that capture the interplay between flow, fine sediments, organic matter and DO concentrations, as shown by studies in salmonid spawning grounds.

19) Dissolved oxygen in the pore water of FPM beds has been measured:

- Ex situ, by extracting a small sample of pore water for laboratory analyses (Budensiek et al., 1993).
- In-situ, using a hand-held optical sensor (e.g. Neil et al., 2014).
- In situ, using autonomous optode loggers (Quinlan et al., 2014). Continuous measurements are suitable when DO concentrations exhibit rapid fluctuations in relation to flow and upwelling groundwater and, thus, help assess the frequency of exposure to low DO.

20) Ex-situ and in situ, hand-held measurements of DO in the pore water are unsuitable for three main reasons (Quinlan et al., 2015): (i) failure to show the frequency/duration of low DO episodes experienced by FPMs (ii) risk from contamination by atmospheric oxygen (Murdoch and Azcue, 1995); and (iii) uncertainties in measuring vertical gradients.

21) Autonomous, in situ measurements with optode loggers in Scotland (Malcolm et al., 2006; 2009; Soulsby et al., 2009), England (Sear et al., 2014), and Germany (e.g. Riss et al., 2008; Schindler-Wildhaber et al., 2014) showed that in-situ continuous monitoring of DO in pore water can:

- Capture effectively the temporal variability and extremes in DO, particularly biologically important episodes of low DO; this can help identify frequency of exposure to low DO at a given site.
- Account for flow, groundwater and fine sediment effects on the variability of DO in the pore water.
- Collect reliable data throughout a six to twelve-month deployment without need for re-calibration (i.e. maintenance).
- Retrieve data at any time required.
- Cause minimum disturbance on the substrate.

22) Key monitoring considerations for continuous measurement of DO in the pore water include:

- Cost. For example, six optodes with associated cables and data logger cost approximately £25 000 (Quinlan et al., 2015). This may limit the spatial resolution of sampling.
- Long and labour-intensive calibration period before deployment. For example, Malcolm et al. (2006) reported a three-week period of calibration in the laboratory at a range of oxygen and temperature levels.
- Comparisons with data from ex-situ analyses at a given site. Oxygen extraction from pore water requires properly trained staff and fit-for-purpose equipment.

### Pore water sampling: redox potential

23) Loss of redox potential between free flowing water and pore water has been shown to be significantly linked with FPM recruitment success (Geist and Auerswald, 2007; Gosselin et al, 2015). The technique has been used in the Germany (Geist), US, Ireland (work by Ian Kileen) and England (Gosselin et al, 2015) e.g. Irish FPM sites with juvenile recruitment were found to have no detectable differences between the redox potential (Eh) of the open water and the pore water at 5 or 10cm depth (North South Project 2, 2009). 24) Redox potential measures the rate of electron or oxygen transfer through reduction-oxidation (redox) chemical reactions going on side by side in water (Sigg, 2000). In the freshwater environment, redox is measured to track biogeochemical reactions and the presence of anoxic conditions (e.g. Christensen et al., 2001; Briggs et al., 2013; Heppell et al., 2014).

25) Redox potential is sensed by an inert platinum electrode (probe), upon which redox reactions take place, and read relative to a reference electrode. Redox measurements are often used in relation to other environmental parameters and often regarded more as a relative rather than an exact measurement (Søndergaard, 2010). Values indicate either an oxidising or reducing environment:

- Values above Eh<sup>3</sup> = 300 mV indicate predominance of oxygen and oxidised chemical species, e.g. iron(III); manganese(IV); and nitrates (Schlesinger, 1991).
- Values below Eh = 300 mV indicate a reducing environment, i.e. low, or lack of, oxygen, and predominance of reduced chemical species such as iron(II); manganese(II); ammonium; and low sulphate/high sulphide (Schlesinger, 1991).

26) Redox potential in the pore water of FPM beds has been measured in situ (hand-held). It is considered to be a proxy of the oxygenation of sediment compared to free flowing stream water (Geist and Auerswald, 2007; Irish EPA, 2012; Gosselin et al., 2015). Redox is suitable as a surrogate DO measurement when DO reduction in the pore water compared to free flowing stream water is linked to the deposition of fine sediment, a high content of organic matter and elevated temperatures, as in low-flows during summer months.

27) According to guidance by the Joint Nature Conservation Committee (JNCC, 2015) on FPM monitoring, redox surveys are a cost-effective way of: 1) Determining the reduction of available oxygen within the substrate compared with stream water as a result of fine sediment deposition and increased organic matter in the streambed. 2) Assessing anoxic conditions in the pore water environment during low flows in summer.

28) Key monitoring considerations (mainly related to accuracy of measurement) include:

- Correct location. It is essential to take measurements in apparently suitable FPM habitat. This requires a skilled FPM worker.
- Risk of misinterpretation. In the streambed environment, redox potential represents the intensity of biogeochemical reactions induced by burrowing fauna and microbial metabolism in relation to sediment organic matter content and temperature rather than oxygen concentrations (Christensen et al., 2000; Neil et al., 2014).
- Inconsistency. Although similar calibration procedures may be used, measurements may differ between different probes, perplexing comparisons (YIS-Technote, 2005).
- Need to maintain equipment. Regular maintenance is essential to ensure results are reliable and this may be the main factor in inconsistent results (I. Kileen, pers comm).
- Redox measurement can be very slow. Iron(II) and iron(II), which comprise the calibration solution, react within a few minutes with the redox (platinum) probe, but DO and other redox sensitive species in low concentrations react much more slowly (YIS-Technote, 2005).
- Temperatures during calibration and in the field should be comparable. Redox variation could be due to temperature changes compared to calibration rather than redox reactions; gross changes (>100 mV) are not due to the effect of temperature (YIS-Technote, 2005).
- Disturbance of redox conditions. Care must be taken not to introduce air or oxygenated water by inserting the redox

probe carefully and taking readings quickly (Boyd, 2000).

- Difficulty in inserting the redox probe. Researchers from Scotland (author's experience) and Ireland (Neil et al., 2014) have reported difficulties, relating to insertion of the probe into coarse/gravel or compacted substrates.
- Redox potential data require careful interpretation e.g. redox potential measurements are unable to describe the oxygen requirements for juvenile FPMs (Quinlan et al., 2015).

### Standards and criteria

29) In US/Canada, regulatory criteria have been developed for TSS/SSC, turbidity, median grain size, deposition rate and DO in pore water. See Table 2 and table of references.

30) European studies have proposed tolerance limits for TSS and median grain size. See Table 2 and references.

### 6 Recommendations

1) Define the questions and objectives clearly and explicitly. This will determine the spatial design, methods chosen and analytical techniques.

2) Ensure that the monitoring programme will enable these objectives to be met. Monitoring to understand the effects of fine sediment on FPM beds requires more parameters and comparisons, higher sampling frequency and finer spatial resolution (e.g. within-reach sampling sites) than monitoring to assess fine sediments as a water quality issue.

3) Assess SEPA's suspended sediment data (if available for the sites of interest). Key considerations include: frequency (e.g. is it weekly?); sampling sites (e.g. in relation to FPM sites and potential pressure on them?); flow gauging (e.g. are measurements for suspended sediment (or turbidity) concurrently (same site/time) taken with flow measurements?); parameter (e.g. is it SSC or TSS? Are turbidity measurements calibrated?)

# 4) There are several considerations relating to automated suspended sediment monitoring:

- Sampling should be based on a time-composite sampling method. This will enable the amount of sediment transported across the range of flows at a given site to be assessed costeffectively; samples may be collected at 7-hourly intervals and composited, or not, upon retrieval on a weekly basis. Compositing is recommended on the grounds of practicality because it results in collecting 52 samples per year per site without missing any information.
- There are limitations due to the equipment being located at a single point in the catchment complimentary data from a high resolution network of e.g. turbidity investigations may be necessary.
- Consider how (the large volumes of) date will be stored and analysed.

5) Ensure that the needs for complementary samples have been considered and that these are taken at the same locations and times e.g.; estimates of organic matter content of suspended sediment and in the streambed.

6) Evaluate the transferability of the work on continuous measurement of DO in pore water in salmonid spawning grounds in Scotland and FPM beds in England.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Eh is the same as redox potential, the only difference being in the reference electrode (and thus the voltage offset) against which the potential of the platinum probe is reported. For example, redox readings calibrated with a pH Ag/AgCl<sub>2</sub> electrode and against a Zobell solution<sup>3</sup> can be converted to Eh values by simply adding 220 mV to redox (e.g. Geist and Auerswald, 2007)

7) Evaluate the practicalities, evidence and limitations of the use of redox potential to avoid misinterpretation of results and/or ensure reliable data collection.

- Redox potential as a parameter determining FPM recruitment success is not recommended at sites where: 1) DO concentrations fluctuate rapidly due to changes in stream water-groundwater exchange; 2) deposited fine sediments have low levels of organic matter and redox sensitive components.
- There are unknowns relating to its effectiveness as a proxy for the oxygen supply to juvenile FPMs should be evaluated against evidence about the causes and frequency of DO declines in the pore water and streambed organic matter content.
- A workshop held in Germany in May 2016 covered the monitoring of fine sediments for FPM conservation in detail (including use of the redox potential technique) and the information, knowledge and outputs from this workshop will be extremely beneficial in informing the design of the monitoring programme. A workshop to transfer the knowledge from this workshop to the Scottish context should be considered.

### 7 Tables

Table 1A: Summary of advantages and disadvantages of the techniques supporting the measurement of the parameters required for assessing fine sediments in streams with FPM beds: stream water parameters

| Parameters | Sampling Technique                   | Operational principle  | Advantages   | Disadvantages  |
|------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|--|
| SSC/TSS    | Manual – Ex situ                     | Spot sampling (single point /cross section   | Measures suspended sediment<br>concentration and particle size<br>Accuracy<br>Spatial representativeness (e.g. single<br>point /vertical / cross section)<br>Benchmark for data collected by<br>autosampler/ measured in situ.<br>Lower cost than automated sampling | Unsuitable for high frequency sampling<br>Could be labour intensive at high<br>spatial resolution.<br>Unsuitable during high flows<br>Requires concurrent measurement of<br>flow (discharge)   |
| SSC/TSS    | Automated - Ex situ<br>(autosampler) | Single-point pump<br>sampling  | Enables storm-flow sampling<br>Suitable for high-frequency monitoring<br>(e.g. hourly).<br>Suitable for intensive stream water<br>monitoring programmes<br>Allows programming to fit needs (e.g.<br>flow-proportional sampling, sampling<br>at fixed intervals)      | High resource needs: planning-<br>maintenance /inter-calibration with<br>manual methods/ cost<br>Could be labour intensive when<br>retrieval is required at a high frequency<br>(e.g. weekly)<br>Allows only single-point sampling at<br>a site<br>Bias risk for coarser sediment fractions<br>Requires concurrent monitoring of flow<br>(discharge) |
| Turbidity  | In-situ (hand held or<br>autonomous) | Probe measuring<br>optical properties of a<br>sample/stream water<br>due to presence of<br>sediment and coloured<br>material | Easy, relatively low cost, use<br>Autonomous data logging is suitable<br>for long-term monitoring<br>A network of sites can be covered for<br>low cost   | Measures stream water optical<br>properties not suspended sediment<br>concentrations<br>Bias risk for certain particle sizes<br>Requires inter-calibration with SSC/TSS,<br>flow and temperature   |

SSC: Suspended sediment concentration; TSS: Total suspended solids. Source: Edwards & Glysson, 1999; Gray & Landers, 2014; Perks, 2014)

Table 1B: Summary of advantages and disadvantages of the techniques supporting the measurement of the parameters required for assessing fine sediments in streams with FPM beds: streambed parameters

| Parameters                 | Sampling Technique  | Operational principle  | Advantages  | Disadvantages  |
|----------------------------|---------------------|--|---|--|
| Median grain<br>size       | Manual – Ex situ    | Grab (bulk) sampling<br>and visual surveys                     | Enables understanding of FPM habitat  | FPM habitat disturbance risk   |
| Deposited fine<br>sediment | Manual - Ex situ    | Fine sediment<br>resuspension (e.g.<br>Quorer)                 | Enables assessments of fine sediment<br>deposition<br>Developed for gravels beds<br>Widely used (e.g. UK)<br>Low cost | FPM habitat disturbance risk<br>Unsuitable to integrate sediment<br>deposition during high flow and<br>baseflow periods.<br>Unsuitable for high flows/ high spatial<br>resolution<br>Suitable for fine sediment channel<br>storage<br>Unsuitable to assess MGS changes |
| Deposition<br>rate         | Automated - Ex situ | Sediment traps to<br>sample sediment<br>infiltrating streambed | Assesses siltation/colonisation<br>Low cost<br>Samples events/patches   | Need to address site-specific conditions<br>Risk of FPM habitat disturbance at a<br>high spatial sampling resolution   |

### Continuation of Table 1B

| Parameters                    | Sampling Technique                    | Operational principle   | Advantages   | Disadvantages   |
|-------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|--|---|
| DO pore<br>water              | Manual – Ex situ                      | Extraction of pore<br>water for lab analysis  | Benchmark for in situ DO measurements<br>Low cost compared to in situ methods  | Extraction increases risk of:<br>-contamination by atmospheric oxygen.<br>-errors in measuring vertical gradients<br>Unsuitable to assess DO fluctuations |
| DO pore<br>water              | In situ<br>hand-held                  | Luminescence<br>and optical fibre<br>technology (optodes):<br>a fluorescent dye in<br>the sensor is excited by<br>light depending on DO<br>concentrations | Measures DO reliably (e.g. no flow<br>rate dependency/no consumption of<br>DO in the process<br>Lower cost than continuous data<br>loggers<br>Adaptable shapes and housings of<br>sensor to facilitate insertion into hard<br>substrates | Unsuitable to assess small scale DO<br>temporal fluctuations/vertical gradients   |
| water continuous data logging |                                       | Accuracy/reliability at sites with<br>variable DO<br>Low planning/maintenance/ data<br>retrieval  | High cost<br>Long pre-installation calibration   |   |
| Redox<br>potential            | potential hand-held place on platinum |   | Measures intensity of redox reactions<br>Proxy for DO at sites with high fine<br>sediment/OM   | Misinterpretation risk<br>Inconsistency of readings<br>Difficulty in inserting redox probe  |

MGS: Median grain size; DO: Dissolved oxygen; OM: organic matter. Source: Lambert & Walling, 1988; Quinn et al., 1997; Christensen et al., 2000; Hedrick et al., 2013; Neil et al., 2014Duerdoth et al., 2015; Quinlan et al., 2015.

| Fine sediment parameter                    | FPM tolerance limits  | Regulatory targets/recommendations for fine  | sediments  |
|--|---|--|--|
|  |   | EU Member States   | Elsewhere <sup>13</sup>  |
| (SSC/TSS)                                  | Baseflow: TSS <10 mg/l<br>1, 2, 3, 4<br>Storm-flows: TSS<30 mg/l<br>1, 2, 3, 4                  | Good status (WFD) <sup>0</sup><br>Favourable status (Habitats Directive) <sup>10</sup>   | US – TSS: 30 - 158 mg/L monthly<br>average<br>Canada – SSC: no more than 25 mg/l<br>from background levels                             |
| Turbidity                                  | Turbidity<1-1.9 NTU <sup>2, 4, 5</sup>  | No EU provisions in the context of freshwater<br>organisms; but regulations for Bathing and<br>Drinking waters exist.<br>Sweden (guidelines):<br>Turbidity<1FNU (spring flood) <sup>11</sup> | US: varies 2 -150 NTU<br>Canada: no more than 8 NTU from<br>background levels.<br>Australia: 2-25 NTUs (upland rivers)                 |
| Deposition of fine sediment<br>(siltation) | OM<0.5-1% <sup>4</sup> , 6<br>BOD: <1.4 mg/l <sup>4,7</sup>                                     | No EU provisions<br>Ireland (recommendations):<br>BOD<3 mg/l <sup>12</sup>   | US: Rate<5mm per storm event in<br>gravels<br>% accumulation=< 5-30% increase<br>form background.<br>Riffle Stability Index < 70       |
| MGS  | Silt-clay <2% w/w <sup>5,6</sup><br>MGS>3-7 mm <sup>4,8</sup>                                   | No EU provisions<br>Sweden (guidelines):<br>fine grain (<1mm) <25% <sup>11</sup>   | US: Fines (<83µm) <10% w/w<br>(gravel)<br>Canada: Fines (<2 mm)< 10%<br>(gravel)   |
| DO in pore water                           |   | No EU provisions   | US: DO>5 mg/l daily minimum<br>or DO> 6.0 mg/L weekly average<br>Canada: DO mg/l> 6 mg/l daily<br>minimum<br>or DO>8 (monthly average) |
| Redox potential                            | Loss between free flowing<br>and pore water <20%<br>(I.Kileen, pers comm; CEN<br>standard 2016) | NO EU provisions<br>Sweden (guidelines):<br>Redox>300 mV <sup>11</sup>   |  |

Table 2: FPM tolerance levels to fine sediment parameters and regulatory targets/recommendations.

1. Valovirta, 1998; 2. Skinner et al., 2003; 3. Varandas et al., 2013; 4. Gosselin et al., 2014; 5. Österling et al., 2010; 6. Tarr, 2008; 7. Bauer, 1988; 8. Geist & Auerswald, 2007. 9. EU, 2000; 10. CEN Standard, 2016. 11. WWF Sweden – Restoration of Freshwater Pearl Mussel Streams 12. Irish EPA, 2012. 13. US EPA, 2015. MGS: Median grain size. OM: Organic matter.

### Table 3: The main advantages and disadvantages of substrate characterisation techniques in the context of FPM beds

| Methods                | Description of method   | Advantages  | Disadvantages  |
|------------------------|---|---|--|
| All methods            | Sampling must be spatially<br>representative of the streambed<br>patchiness <sup>1</sup>  | Provide essential information about<br>changes and controls on FPM habitat<br>1, 2, 3   | More time consuming and labour-intensive than<br>measurements of suspended sediments <sup>1, 2</sup><br>Low sampling frequency (bi-annually to annually / not<br>monthly) to avoid streambed disturbance <sup>1, 2</sup><br>Sampling unreliable in high flows <sup>1, 2</sup><br>Differences in reporting confound data comparisons,<br>e.g. US EPA <sup>7</sup> refer to fine sediments in the sediment as<br>particle smaller than 0.83 mm, whereas Tarr <sup>8</sup> uses the<br>Wentworth scale classes. |
| Visual<br>observations | Surface substrate type categorized<br>by visual observation-based<br>counts of cobble and gravel <sup>1, 2</sup>  | Suitability for comparison of adult<br>mussel densities between reaches or<br>morphological units <sup>1</sup>  | Pebble counts are unlikely to detect the differences in<br>fines that are relevant to juvenile PM $^{1, 2}$ .<br>Pebble counts are limited to particles > 8 mm $^{1;2}$ .<br>Inaccurate measurement of fine particles in the field $^{1, 3}$ .<br>Difficulty in sampling deep water $^{1}$ .   |
| Bulk sediment          | Quantitative. Designed for<br>patch (microhabitat) assessment<br>and surface and sub-surface<br>conditions. Collection of<br>composite 1 -3 kg samples by<br>hand, cylinders or syringe cores,<br>each approximately >100 g <sup>1, 4</sup> | Suitable for grain size distribution,<br>silt-clay % and indices (e.g. sorting<br>coeffcient) <sup>2, 3</sup> and use in regulation <sup>7</sup><br>Representative of reach patchiness <sup>2</sup> | Bias in grain size distribution and fine fraction<br>assessments can be caused by excluding larger<br>particles, misleading assessments of mussel tolerances<br>to fine sediment <sup>3</sup> .  |

1. Hedrick et al. (2013); 2. Bunte and Abt (2001); 3. Quinlan et al. (2015a); 4. Geist & Auerswald (2007); 5. US EPA (2015); 6. Tarr (2008).

### 8 List of references

Akoumianaki, I, Potts, J & MacDonald J 2016, Assessing the suitability of the current water quality and ecological monitoring to inform the evaluation of the rural diffuse pollution plan. CD2014/14, Available online at: crew.ac.uk/publications.

APHA, 1999. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, 20. Available at: http://www.mwa.co.th/download/file\_upload/SMWW\_1000-3000.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

Bauer G. 1988. Threats to the freshwater pearl mussel Margaritifera margaritifera L. in Central Europe. Biological Conservation 45: 239–253.

Bond, N.R., 2002. A simple device for estimating rates of fine sediment transport along the bed of shallow streams. Hydrobiologia, 468(1-3), pp.155-161. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Nick\_Bond2/ publication/226760336\_A\_simple\_device\_for\_estimating\_rates\_ of\_fine\_sediment\_transport\_along\_the\_bed\_of\_shallow\_streams/ links/5563c45008ae9963a11ef435.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

Boyd, C.E., 2000. Water Quality: An Introduction. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Norwell.

Briggs, M.A., Lautz, L.K., Hare, D.K. and González-Pinzón, R., 2013. Relating hyporheic fluxes, residence times, and redox-sensitive biogeochemical processes upstream of beaver dams. Freshwater Science, Vol. 32, Issue 2, pg(s) 622-641 doi: 10.1899/12-110.1. Available at: http://www.bioone.org/doi/ full/10.1899/12-110.1 Accessed: June 2016.

Buddensiek V, Engel H, Fleischauer-Rossing S, Wachtler K. 1993. Studies on the chemistry of interstitial water taken from defined horizons in the fine sediments of bivalve habitats in several Northern German lowland waters: II. Microhabitats of Margaritifera margaritifera L., Unio crassus (Philipsson) and Unio tumidus (Philipsson). Archivfür Hydrobiologie 127: 151–166. Bunte, K. and Abt, S.R., 2001. Sampling surface and subsurface particle-size distributions in wadable gravel-and cobble-bed streams for analyses in sediment transport, hydraulics, and streambed monitoring. Gen. Tech. Rep. RMRS-GTR-74. Fort Collins,CO: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station. 428 p. Available at: http://www.fs.fed.us/rm/pubs/rmrs\_gtr74.html. Accessed: June 2016.

Christensen TH, Bjerg PL, Banwart SA, Jakobsen R, Heron G, Albrechtsen HJ. 2000. Characterizing of redox conditions in groundwater contaminant plumes. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 45: 165–241. Available at: https://www.sciencebase. gov/catalog/item/50541e7ce4b097cd4fcfe947. Accessed: June 2016.

Duerdoth, C.P., Arnold, A., Murphy, J.F., Naden, P.S., Scarlett, P., Collins, A.L., Sear, D.A. and Jones, J.I., 2015. Assessment of a rapid method for quantitative reach-scale estimates of deposited fine sediment in rivers. Geomorphology, 230, pp.37-50. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0169555X14005406. Accessed: June 2016.

Edwards, T.K. and Glysson, G.D., 1999. Field methods for measurement of fluvial sediment: US Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations. Available at ht tp://pubs. usgs. g ov/twri/twri3-c2/pdf/twri 3-C2 a. pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

EU 2000, "Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy". Official Journal of the European Communities, L327, 1–70.

Extence, C., P Chadd, R., England, J., J Dunbar, M., J Wood, P. and D Taylor, E., 2013. the assessment of fine sediment accumulation in rivers using macro-invertebrate community response. River Research and Applications, 29(1), pp.17-55.

Geist, J. and Auerswald, K., 2007. Physicochemical stream bed characteristics and recruitment of the freshwater pearl mussel (Margaritifera margaritifera). Freshwater Biology, 52(12), pp.2299-2316. Available at: http://www4.ncsu.edu/~pollock/ pdfs/Geist%20and%20Auerswald%202007.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

Gosselin, M.P., 2015. Conservation of the freshwater pearl mussel (Margaritifera margaritifera) in the river Rede, UK: Identification of instream indicators for catchment-scale issues. Limnologica-Ecology and Management of Inland Waters, 50, pp.58-66. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/ Marie-Pierre\_Gosselin2/publication/270899635\_Conservation\_ of\_the\_freshwater\_pearl\_mussel\_(Margaritifera\_margaritifera)\_ in\_the\_river\_Rede\_UK\_identification\_of\_instream\_indicators\_for\_ catchment-scale\_issues/links/54bd0bcf0cf218d4a1692009.pdf Accessed: June 2016.

Gray, J.R. and Landers, M.N., 2014. Measuring suspended sediment: Chapter 10. Available at: http://water.usgs. gov/osw/techniques/sediment/gray\_landers\_elsevier\_chapter\_12\_10\_17\_2013.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

Greig, S.M., Sear, D.A. and Carling, P.A., 2007. A review of factors influencing the availability of dissolved oxygen to incubating salmonid embryos. Hydrological processes, 21(3), pp.323-334. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp.6188/abstract. Accessed: June 2016.

Grove, M.K., Bilotta, G.S., Woockman, R.R. and Schwartz, J.S., 2015. Suspended sediment regimes in contrasting referencecondition freshwater ecosystems: Implications for water quality guidelines and management. Science of the Total Environment, 502, pp.481-492. Available at: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S004896971401376X. Accessed: June 2016.

Hedrick, L.B., Anderson, J.T., Welsh, S.A. and Lin, L.S., 2013. Sedimentation in mountain streams: a review of methods of measurement. Available at: http://www.scirp.org/journal/ PaperInformation.aspx?PaperID=29185. Accessed: June 2016.

Heppell, C., Heathwaite, A.L., Binley, A., Byrne, P., Ullah, S., Lansdown, K., Keenan, P., Trimmer, M. and Zhang, H., 2014. Interpreting spatial patterns in redox and coupled water–nitrogen fluxes in the streambed of a gaining river reach. Biogeochemistry, 117(2-3), pp.491-509. Available at: http://link.springer.com/ article/10.1007/s10533-013-9895-4/fulltext.html Accessed: June 2016.

Irish EPA, 2012. River sediment studies in relation to juvenile pearl mussels and salmonids. Available at: https://www.epa.ie/pubs/reports/water/rivers/EPA\_River\_Sediment\_Studies.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

JNCC, 2009. Common Standards Monitoring Guidance. Available at: http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/pdf/CMS\_Freshwaterfauna\_201510. pdf Accessed: June 2016.

Jordan, P. and Cassidy, R., 2011. Technical Note: Assessing a 24/7 solution for monitoring water quality loads in small river catchments. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 15(10), pp.3093-3100. Available at: www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci. net/15/3093/2011/. Accessed: June 2016.

Kidner, E.M. and Roesner, L., 2007. Guidance for Improving Monitoring and Analysis Methods for Stormwater-Borne Solids. NOVATECH 2007. Available at: http://documents.irevues.inist.fr/ bitstream/handle/2042/25295/1417\_169kidner.pdf?sequence=1. Accessed: June 2016.

Kozerski, H.P. and Leuschner, K., 1999. Plate sediment traps for slowly moving waters. Water Research, 33(13), pp.2913-2922.

Lambert, C.P. and Walling, D.E., 1988. Measurement of

channel storage of suspended sediment in a gravel-bed river. Catena, 15(1), pp.65-80. Available at: http://www.academia. edu/13259681/Measurement\_of\_channel\_storage\_of\_ suspended\_sediment\_in\_a\_gravel-bed\_river. Accessed: June 2016.

Malcolm, I.A., Soulsby, C. and Youngson, A.F., 2006. Highfrequency logging technologies reveal state-dependent hyporheic process dynamics: implications for hydroecological studies. Hydrological Processes, 20(3), pp.615-622. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/ lain\_Malcolm/publication/227683662\_Highfrequency\_ logging\_technologies\_reveal\_statedependent\_hyporheic\_ process\_dynamics\_implications\_for\_hydroecological\_studies/ links/0deec51628ca81e367000000.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

Malcolm, I.A., Soulsby, C., Youngson, A.F. and Tetzlaff, D., 2009. Fine scale variability of hyporheic hydrochemistry in salmon spawning gravels with contrasting groundwater-surface water interactions. Hydrogeology Journal, 17(1), pp.161-174. Available at: http://www.ingentaconnect.com/content/schweiz/ fal/2010/00000176/0000004/art00004?crawler=true Accessed: June 2016.

Marquis, P., 2005. Turbidity and suspended sediment as measures of water quality. Streamline Watershed Management Bulletin, 9, pp.21-23. http://www.forrex.org/sites/default/files/publications/ articles/streamline\_vol9\_no1\_art4.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

Mathers, K.L. and Wood, P.J., 2016. Fine sediment deposition and interstitial flow effects on macroinvertebrate community composition within riffle heads and tails. Hydrobiologia, pp.1-14. Available at: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10750-016-2748-0. Accessed: June 2016.

Michel, C., Schindler Wildhaber, Y., Epting, J., Thorpe, K.L., Huggenberger, P., Alewell, C. and Burkhardt-Holm, P., 2014. Artificial steps mitigate the effect of fine sediment on the survival of brown trout embryos in a heavily modified river. Freshwater biology, 59(3), pp.544-556. Available at: http://edoc.unibas. ch/30920/. Accessed: June 2016.

NEH (National Engineering Handbook), 2007. Guidelines for Sampling Bed Material. Technical Supplement 13A. Available at: http://directives.sc.egov.usda.gov/17835.wba. Accessed: June 2016.

Neill, M., Walsh, N. and Lucey, J., 2014. Direct measurement of oxygen in river substrates. Water and Environment Journal, 28(4), pp.566-571. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1111/wej.12072/abstract. Accessed: June 2016.

North South Project 2, 2009. Monitoring Methods Report: Freshwater Pearl Mussel Sub-basin Plans. Produced by NS 2, funded by DEHLG [Department of the Environment, Heritage & Local Government]. Available at: http://www.epa.ie/licences/ lic\_eDMS/090151b2803026fe.pdf. Accessed June 2016.

Österling ME, Arvidsson BL, Greenberg LA. 2010. Habitat degradation and the decline of the threatened mussel Margaritifera margaritifera: influence of turbidity and sedimentation on the mussel and its host. Journal of Applied Ecology 47: 759–768.

Owens, P.N., Batalla, R.J., Collins, A.J., Gomez, B., Hicks, D.M., Horowitz, A.J., Kondolf, G.M., Marden, M., Page, M.J., Peacock, D.H. and Petticrew, E.L., 2005. Fine-grained sediment in river systems: environmental significance and management issues. River research and applications, 21(7), pp.693-717. Available at: http://air.idaho.gov/media/525792-Finegrained\_sediment\_river\_ systems\_significance\_management\_Owens\_et\_al.\_2005.pdf. Accessed: June 2016. Perks, M.T. 2014. Suspended sediment sampling. In book: Geomorphological Techniques (Online Edition), Chapter: Suspended sediment sampling, Publisher: British Society for Geomorphology, Editors: Clarke LE. Available: https://www. researchgate.net/publication/260176439\_Suspended\_sediment\_ sampling. Accessed June 2016.

Quinlan, E., Gibbins, C., Malcolm, I., Batalla, R., Vericat, D. and Hastie, L., 2015. A review of the physical habitat requirements and research priorities needed to underpin conservation of the endangered freshwater pearl mussel Margaritifera margaritifera. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 25(1), pp.107-124. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1002/aqc.2484/full. Accessed: June 2016.

Quinlan, E., Malcolm, I.A. and Gibbins, C.N., 2014. Spatiotemporal variability of dissolved oxygen within the shallow subsurface zone of a freshwater pearl mussel bed. Fundamental and Applied Limnology/Archiv für Hydrobiologie, 185(3-4), pp.281-294.

Quinn, J.M., Cooper, A.B., Davies-Colley, R.J., Rutherford, J.C. and Williamson, R.B., 1997. Land use effects on habitat, water quality, periphyton, and benthic invertebrates in Waikato, New Zealand, hill-country streams. New Zealand journal of marine and freshwater research, 31(5), pp.579-597. Available at: http:// www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/00288330.1997.951679 1. Accessed : June 2016.

Riss, H.W., Meyer, E.I. and Niepagenkemper, O., 2008. A novel and robust device for repeated small-scale oxygen measurement in riverine sediments—implications for advanced environmental surveys. Limnol. Oceanogr.: Methods, 6, pp.200-207. Available at: http://loesje.m.aslo.net/lomethods/free/2008/0200.pdf Accessed: June 2016.

Schindler Wildhaber Y., Michel C., Burkhardt-Holm P., Baenninger D. & Alewell C. 2012. Measurement of spatial and temporal □ne sediment dynamics in a small river. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 16, 1501–1515. Available at: http://www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/16/1501/2012/hess-16-1501-2012.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

Schindler-Wildhaber, Y.S., Michel, C., Epting, J., Wildhaber, R.A., Huber, E., Huggenberger, P., Burkhardt-Holm, P. and Alewell, C., 2014. Effects of river morphology, hydraulic gradients, and sediment deposition on water exchange and oxygen dynamics in salmonid redds. Science of the Total Environment, 470, pp.488-500. Available at: http://sep.csumb.edu/class/ENVS550A/s/ lit/LinearModels/2014\_etc/SchindlerWildhaberEtAl\_2014. pdfAccessed: June 2016.

Sear, D.A., Pattison, I., Collins, A.L., Newson, M.D., Jones, J.I., Naden, P.S. and Carling, P.A., 2014. Factors controlling the temporal variability in dissolved oxygen regime of salmon spawning gravels. Hydrological Processes, 28(1), pp.86-103. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ hyp.9565/abstract. Accessed: June 2016.

Sherriff, S.C., Rowan, J.S., Melland, A.R., Jordan, P., Fenton, O. and Ó hUallacháin, D., 2015. Investigating suspended sediment dynamics in contrasting agricultural catchments using ex situ turbidity-based suspended sediment monitoring. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 19(8), pp.3349-3363. Available at: www. hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/19/3349/2015/. Accessed: June 2016. Sigg, L., 2000. Redox potential measurements in natural waters: significance, concepts and problems. In Redox (pp. 1-12). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

Sime, I. 2014. Report of Site Condition Monitoring survey of freshwater pearl mussels in the River Spey during 2013 and 2014.

Scottish Natural Heritage. Available at: http://www.snh.gov.uk/ docs/A1478200.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

Skinner A, Young M, Hastie LC. 2003. Ecology of the Freshwater Pearl Mussel. Conserving Natura 2000 Rivers Ecology Series No.2. English Nature, Peterborough.

Søndergaard, M. (2010) Redox Potential. In Linkens, G.E. (ed). Geochemistry of Inland Waters, pp. 549–556. Elsevier, Oxford

Soulsby, C., Malcolm, I.A., Tetzlaff, D. and Youngson, A.F., 2009. Seasonal and inter-annual variability in hyporheic water quality revealed by continuous monitoring in a salmon spawning stream. River research and applications, 25(10), pp.1304-1319. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/rra.1241/abstract. Accessed: June 2016.

Tarr E. 2008. The population structure and habitat requirements of the freshwater pearl mussel, Margaritifera margaritifera, in Scotland. Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Aberdeen, Scotland Available at: http://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk. bl.ethos.499734.

Turley, M.D., Bilotta, G.S., Extence, C.A. and Brazier, R.E., 2014. Evaluation of a fine sediment biomonitoring tool across a wide range of temperate rivers and streams. Freshwater Biology, 59(11), pp.2268-2277.

US EPA, 2015. Developing Water Quality Criteria for suspended and bedded sediments (SABs); Potential Approaches. Available at: https://www.epa.gov/wqc/developing-water-quality-criteriasuspended-and-bedded-sediments-sabs-potential-approaches. Accessed June 2016.

USGS, 2011. http://gallery.usgs.gov/videos.497. Accessed: May 2016.

Valovirta I. 1998. Conservation of Margaritifera margaritifera in Finland. Journal of Conchology Special Issue: 251–256.

Varandas S, Lopes-Lima M, Teixeira A, Hinzmann M, Reis J, Cortes R, Machado J, Sousa R. 2013. Ecology of southern European pearl mussels (Margaritifera margaritifera):  $\Box$ rst record of two new populations on the rivers Terva and Beça (Portugal). Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 23: 374–389.

Walling, D.E. and Collins, A.L., 2005. Suspended sediment sources in British rivers. Sediment budgets, 1(291), pp.2005123-33.

Walling, D.E. and Webb, B.W., 1987. Suspended load in gravelbed rivers: UK experience. Sediment Transfer in Gravel-Bed Rivers. John Wiley & Sons New York. 1987. p 691-723, 8 tab, 11 fig, 54 ref.

Wood, P.J. and Armitage, P.D., 1997. Biological effects of fine sediment in the lotic environment. Environmental management, 21(2), pp.203-217. Available at: http://www.deq.idaho. gov/media/525755-Biological\_Effects\_Fine\_Sediment\_lotic\_ Environment\_Wood\_Armitage\_1997.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.

WWF Sweden – Restoration of Freshwater Pearl Mussel Streams. (http://ec.europa.eu/environment/life/themes/animalandplants/ documents/fpm\_streams.pdf)

YSI-Technote, 2005. Measuring ORP on YSI 6-Series Sondes: Tips, Cautions and Limitations. Available at: https://www.ysi. com/File%20Library/Documents/Technical%20Notes/T608-Measuring-ORP-on-YSI-6-Series-Sondes-Tips-Cautions-and-Limitations.pdf. Accessed: June 2016.



Scotland's centre of expertise for waters

**CREW Facilitation Team** 

James Hutton Institute Craigiebuckler Aberdeen AB15 8QH Scotland UK

Tel: +44 (0)1224 395 395

Email: enquiries@crew.ac.uk

www.crew.ac.uk



CREW is a Scottish Government funded partnership between the James Hutton Institute and Scottish Universities.

